IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

ALLISTER JONES,

Respondent

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CASE NO. SCO2-1921 Lower Tribunal No. 4D00-2987

> CHARLES J. CRIST, Jr. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO Bureau Chief West Palm Beach Florida Bar No. 656879

KAREN FINKLE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0191566 1515 N. Flagler Drive 9th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401-3432 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Counsel for Respondent

CASE NO. SCO2-1921 ALLISTER JONES v. STATE OF FLORIDA

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The respondent, Allister Jones, was the defendant and the State of Florida was the prosecution in the trial court below, the Circuit Court for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County. The respondent appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the State then invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as Jones and the State respectively.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent, Allister Jones ("Jones"), was convicted by a jury of lewd assault and false imprisonment of a child under thirteen: in this case, a ten-year old girl. Jones did not testify. In its closing argument at trial, the State remarked: "The State of Florida has proven this case beyond a reasonable doubt and I ask you to go back in that jury room, apply your common sense to the true facts of this case and come back and tell the defendant what he knows sitting there today, that he is guilty of indecent assault." The trial court overruled Jones' objection to the comment. Jones appealed his conviction and sentence raising this issue, among others, on appeal.¹

The District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, in a two to one majority decision rendered April 17, 2002, concluded that the statement was an impermissible comment on the defendant's right to remain silent. The dissent concluded just the opposite in a strongly worded opinion.

The State then filed a motion for re-hearing and/or certification which was denied. The majority issued a new opinion on July 24, 2002 replacing the opinion issued April 17. The majority held that, by referring to Jones as "sitting there" and requesting the jury to "tell him what he already knows," the State suggested that Jones

¹ Facts taken from the opinion of the Fourth District rendered July 24, 2002: <u>Jones v. State</u>, 821 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002).

did not testify because he knew he was guilty. This second majority opinion responded more specifically to the minority opinion which had concluded that <u>Harris</u> v. State, 438 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1983) controlled; the majority went to some lengths to distinguish the <u>Harris</u> case.

The State then invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on the basis that the decision of the Fourth District conflicted with <u>Harris</u>. This Court accepted jurisdiction by Order dated March 6, 2003.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The prosecutor, in closing, remarked that "the State of Florida has proven this case beyond a reasonable doubt and I ask you to go back in that jury room, apply your common sense to the true facts of this case and come back and tell the defendant what he knows sitting there today, that he is guilty of indecent assault." The State submits that the challenged comment is not "fairly susceptible" of being construed by the jury as a comment on Jones' right to silence because the jury could not have construed it as anything other than the prosecutor pointing out Jones' physical position in the courtroom.

ARGUMENT

THE PROSECUTION, BY REFERRING TO JONES AS "SITTING THERE" AND REQUESTING THE JURY TO "TELL HIM WHAT HE ALREADY KNOWS,"MADE A PERMISSIBLE COMMENT ON JONES' PHYSICAL POSITION IN THE COURTROOM, NOT AN IMPERMISSIBLE COMMENT ON JONES' RIGHT TO SILENCE.

In <u>Harris v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1983), the prosecutor made the following statement: "I submit to you this was a voluntary statement taken after a considerable period of time in which he sat there and remained the same immobile, unemotional self as he has this entire trial." This Court found the statement to be a fair comment on the defendant's demeanor and not an impermissible comment on the defendant's right to remain silent.

This Court also made it very clear that the challenged statement had to be read in context:

A full reading of the prosecutor's argument establishes without question that he was not referring to appellant's failure to testify at trial. The prosecutor, in fact, was addressing the critical issue of whether appellant's confession was voluntary and, in doing so, was commenting on appellant's demeanor at the time the confession was made. To understand the challenged statement, it is necessary to review the entire argument on this issue. ...

<u>Id</u>, at 794.

The State respectfully submits that, in the case at bar, the district court appears

to have taken the prosecutor's remarks out of context and subjected them to a level of scrutiny that is wholly unwarranted. The prosecutor merely remarked that "the State of Florida has proven this case beyond a reasonable doubt and I ask you to go back in that jury room, apply your common sense to the true facts of this case and come back and tell the defendant what he knows sitting there today, that he is guilty of indecent assault." This was a comment on Jones' physical position in the courtroom; the prosecutor was simply pointing him out to the jury. As in <u>Harris</u>, it cannot be interpreted as a comment on Jones' right to silence when the entire statement is looked at in its proper context.

A comment is only impermissible if it is "fairly susceptible" of being construed by the jury as a comment on the defendant's right to silence. <u>Hoggins v. State</u>, 718 So. 2d 761, 769 (Fla. 1998). This Court has noted that this is a "very liberal rule" for determining whether a comment constitutes a comment on silence. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 522 So. 2d 802, 807 (Fla. 1998). It is hard to see how any jury could take the challenged comments in the case at bar as anything other than the prosecutor pointing out Jones to the jury.

The challenged comment is simply not of the same order or magnitude as those that have been held to be an impermissible comment on a defendant's right to silence. For example, in <u>Hoggins v. State</u>, 718 So. 2d 761 (Fla. 1998), the prosecutor, on

cross-examination, asked the defendant why he didn't tell the police the "story" that he had just told the jury today and kept asking questions about this particular point. Further, in closing argument the prosecutor again pointed out that the defendant had failed to tell his version of events to police on the night of his arrest. This was held to be impermissible. Similarly, in <u>Heath v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 1995) and <u>Dailey v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 1992), the prosecutor's comments that defendant was the "only" person who knew what happened made an impermissible reference to the defendant's right to silence.² The State respectfully submits that, in these cases, the jury could not have failed to notice that the prosecution was attempting to draw a negative inference from the defendant's "failure" to testify or to say anything to the police. The same cannot be said of the challenged comment in the case at bar.

The challenged comment in the case at bar was only about Jones' physical position in the courtroom and, possibly, his demeanor. Comments about a defendant's demeanor, whether at trial or at some other point after the crime, have always been permissible. <u>Harris v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1983) is such an example. Jackson v. State, 522 So. 2d 802, 807 (Fla. 1998), is another. In Jackson, a detective when questioned about the defendant's demeanor at the time of his arrest, commented that the defendant "appeared very calm." This was held to be a

² Note, however, that this Court found the errors to be harmless.

permissible comment.

On the other hand, where the defendant's demeanor and physical position had been described as "sitting over here quietly", the comment was held to be impermissible. <u>Hall v. State</u>, 364 So. 2d 866 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). It was impermissible, because, the State submits, a jury might have construed "quiet" as a negative inference on the right to silence. However, the challenged comment does not fall within this category. There was no reference to Jones being "quiet", only that he was "sitting there". The challenged comment was permissible.

Finally, the State further submits that, by taking the statement out of context and scrutinizing it under a microscope, the district court has overlooked the ramifications of its approach on State prosecutors. There is now no guidance whatsoever as to what is permissible and what is not when a prosecutor attempts to single out a defendant and force the jury to focus on him or her. The challenged comments were simply a reference to Jones, nothing more or less. Any other interpretation would leave a prosecutor without a valuable rhetorical tool.

CONCLUSION

In cases where this Court has decided that the defendant's right to silence was infringed, the State respectfully submits that the impermissible comments may have allowed a jury to draw a negative inference from the defendant's "failure" to testify or to say anything to the police. Such was not the nature of the challenged comment in the case at bar. The challenged comment was not "fairly susceptible" of being construed by the jury as a comment on Jones' right to silence because the jury could not have construed it as anything other than the prosecutor pointing out Jones' physical position in the courtroom and, possibly, his demeanor at trial.

In light of the foregoing, the State would respectfully request that this Court QUASH the decision of the Fourth District.