# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC02-1921 L.T. Case No. 4D00-2987

ALLISTER JONES,

Respondent.

### **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

SUSAN D. CLINE Assistant Public Defender Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida Florida Bar No. 377856 Attorney for Allister Jones The Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street, 6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

## **

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

### <u>POINT I</u>

This Honorable Court should reconsider its decision accepting jurisdiction of this cause and find that jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

## POINT II

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed and remanded for a new trial, holding that the trial court erred in overruling Respondent's objections to the state's improper comment during closing argument commenting on Respondent's right to remain silent. In doing so, the district court applied existing law to the instant facts. This opinion, based upon sound and long-standing legal principles, does not conflict with this Court's holding in *Harris v. State*, 438 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1983), *cert. denied*, 466 U.S. 963, 104 S. Ct. 2181, 80 L. Ed. 2d 563 (1984). Thus, this Honorable Court should affirm the instant decision of the fourth district.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### POINT I [RENUMBERED]

# THIS HONORABLE COURT SHOULD FIND THAT DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE V, SECTION 3(B)(3) OF THE *FLORIDA CONSTITUTION* WAS IMPROVIDENTLY GRANTED.

Respondent respectfully suggests that this Honorable Court should reconsider its decision to utilize its discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the *Florida Constitution* to review the instant decision which Petitioner claims conflicts with this Court's holding in *Harris v. State*, 438 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1983), *cert. denied*, 466 U.S. 963, 104 S. Ct. 2181, 80 L. Ed. 2d 563 (1984), based on the following grounds.

In *Jenkins v. State*, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980), wherein this Court examined at length the effect of the 1980 constitutional amendment on its conflict jurisdiction, this Court recognized:

'We have heretofore pointed out that under the constitutional plan the powers of this Court to review decisions of the district courts of appeal are limited and strictly prescribed. It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. The revision and modernization of the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay

in the administration of justice. The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute. To fail to recognize that these are courts primarily of final appellate jurisdiction and to allow such courts to become intermediate courts of appeal would result in a condition far more detrimental to the general welfare and the speedy and efficient administration of justice than that which the system was designed to remedy.[Citations omitted].'

*Id.* at 1357-1358, quoting *Ansin v. Thurston*, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958). Further, in *Lake v. Lake*, 103 So. 2d 639, 641-642 (Fla. 1958), this Court addressed the limits placed on its jurisdiction even then to prevent the intermediate appellate courts from "becoming way stations on the road to the Supreme Court." This Court wrote:

They [district courts of appeal] are and were meant to be courts of final, appellate jurisdiction. (emphasis in original) (citations omitted). If they are not considered and maintained as such the system will fail. Sustaining the dignity of decisions of the district courts of appeal must depend largely on the determination of the Supreme Court not to venture beyond the limitations of its own *powers* by arrogating to itself the right to delve into a decision of a district court of appeal primarily to decide whether or not the Supreme Court agrees with the district court of appeal about the disposition of a given case. *Lake*, 103 So. 2d at 642.

As can be readily seen from the argument set forth in Point II, *infra*, this case does not provide a basis for the exercise of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction as there is *no* express and direct conflict on the same question of law between the instant cause and *Harris v. State*, 438 So. 2d 787. It is well-settled that conflict between decisions must be express and direct; the conflict must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. Neither a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction. *Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

As the majority of the district court specifically found, the instant case is factually distinguishable from *Harris v. State*. *See*, *Jones v. State*, 821 So. 2d 473, 474 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002).

Therefore, based on the foregoing and the argument set forth in Point II, the decision of the fourth district in the case at bar is **not** in express and direct conflict with *Harris v. State* on the same question of law.

Further, this Court should find that review was improvidently granted as not only is the decision below fully consistent with established law, review would merely be an unnecessary exercise of judicial resources and would have the effect of rendering the district court a mere way station on the road to this Court. *See Lake v. Lake*, 103 So. 2d at 641-642. There is no genuine issue with respect to the propriety of the decision or the outcome of the appeal below.

Discretionary jurisdiction entails a judicial power to review a case, not an obligation to do so. In light of the policy considerations expressed herein as well as the reasons set forth above, Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reconsider its decision and find that discretionary jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

#### <u>POINT II</u>

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT THE PROSECUTION'S IMPERMISSIBLE COMMENT DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT ON RESPONDENT'S RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT CONSTITUTED HARMFUL AND REVERSIBLE ERROR UNDER THE FACTS PRESENTED [RENUMBERED AND RESTATED].

Assuming *arguendo* that this Honorable Court does not reconsider its acceptance of jurisdiction herein (*see* Point I), Respondent contends that there is *no* express and direct conflict on the same question of law between the instant cause and *Harris v. State*, 438 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1983), *cert. denied*, 466 U.S. 963, 104 S. Ct. 2181, 80 L. Ed. 2d 563 (1984), as the instant cause is factually distinguishable from *Harris v. State* as the majority of the district court specifically and correctly determined.

In *Harris v. State*, 438 So. 2d 787, the defendant, who was charged with murder in addition to other crimes, gave an oral and written confession in which he confessed to the commission of the crimes charged. During direct, the prosecutor asked the interrogating officer to describe Harris' demeanor during the interrogation which had elicited the confession and the officer responded that Harris was "totally calm" and "nothing seemed to bother him." *Id.* at 790. As Harris didn't testify, defense counsel's strategy was to attempt to convince the jury that the confession

was involuntary and thus should not be believed. *Id.* at 792. In closing arguments the prosecutor commented, "I submit to you this was a voluntary statement taken after a considerable period of time in which he sat there and remained the same immobile, unemotional self as he has this entire trial." *Id.* at 794. The Harris Court rejected the defense argument that these comments were improper:

A full reading of the prosecutor's argument establishes without question that he was not referring to [Harris'] failure to testify at trial. The prosecutor, in fact, was addressing the critical issue of whether [Harris'] confession was voluntary and, in doing so, was commenting on [Harris'] demeanor at the time the confession was made. To understand the challenged statement, it is necessary to review the entire argument on this issue. In the transcript, the argument of the prosecutor reads as follows:

You have got to be concerned about the voluntariness of the statement; whether it was freely and voluntarily made in order to rely on the statement.

Again, you have other evidence to work with, but we are looking exclusively at the statement here.

There is nothing in the statement that indicates that it is not freely and voluntarily given. You can look at the photographs that have been introduced of [Harris] immediately after post-statement taking and you can see that the photographs indicate a man who looks exactly the same except for, perhaps, some minor change in the combing of his hair. There are no injuries on Mr. Harris there. They didn't beat him or threaten him.

If they had beat or threatened him, the

statement that he would have given would have tracked exactly what Parmenter wanted him to say, but it didn't.

How can you say the statement wasn't voluntary when the man goes through the statement and he initials every page of the statement and he makes certain corrections on the statement. He says certain things in the statement which indicate that he is expressing himself in a narrative sort of way and he is asked questions such as: What was your purpose of going into the house or what were your activities inside the house, and certainly those are broad and general enough questions for [Harris] to be able to respond to. These are his words.

I submit to you this was a voluntary statement taken after a considerable period of time in which he sat there and remained the same immobile, unemotional self as he has this entire trial.

This is the type of person he is. This is the type of individual that could do something like he did in this case to Essie Daniels.

... There is nothing in this statement which would indicate that statement was anything but freely and voluntarily given.

(Emphasis added.) It is obvious that the prosecutor was describing to the jury [Harris'] demeanor during his interrogation by comparing it to [Harris'] demeanor as he appeared before them at the trial. We find that this comment does not violate [Harris'] fifth amendment rights nor does it violate the case law or the rules of procedure of this state.

Harris v. State, 438 So. 2d at 794-796.

By contrast, the Fourth District in *Jones v. State* considered a situation with clearly distinguishable circumstances. Respondent did not testify at trial and there was no issue concerning the voluntariness of a statement given to the police wherein he denied ever speaking to Shannon Rose. During closing arguments, the prosecutor commented,

The State of Florida has proven this case beyond and to the exclusion of all reasonable doubt and I ask you to go back in that jury room, apply your common sense to the true facts of this case and come back and tell the defendant what he knows sitting there today, that he is guilty of indecent assault.

(T 191). As pointed out by the district court, this Court in *Harris* held that the challenged comment did not refer to Harris' failure to testify at trial, but *instead* addressed the critical issue of whether Harris' *confession* to police had been voluntary, and in doing so, the prosecutor was commenting on Harris' "**demeanor at the time the confession was made.** *Id.* (emphasis added)." *Jones v. State*, 821 So. 2d at 475, *citing Harris*, 438 So. 2d at 794. The fourth district noted, that as this Court had ruled, "In doing so, the prosecutor was [merely] describing to the jury the defendant's demeanor during his interrogation by comparing it to his demeanor as he appeared before them at trial." *Jones*, 821 So. 2d at 475, *citing Harris*, 438 So. 2d at 795. There was no such comparison in the instant cause, where it was clear that the

prosecutor was commenting on Respondent's failure to testify at trial, as he had made no out-of-court admission.

In finding that the instant comment was an impermissible comment on Respondent's right to remain silent and rejecting the position expressed in the minority opinion, the district court concluded,

> We find the comment in the instant case is of an entirely different order. Unlike Harris, the prosecutor was referring to what Jones's knew as he was "sitting there," i.e., at trial, and not how he may have acted, or what he may have said, at another time...We decline to adopt the dissent's position, that the instant comment was a permissible comment made while arguing the state had met its burden of proof. Phrasing an otherwise impermissible comment as an attempt by the state to argue it has met its burden of proof does not vitiate that comment of its impermissible nature. In short, the state may not argue it has met its burden of proof by referring to the fact the defendant, "sitting there," knows he is guilty, yet has chosen not to testify. We find the complained-of comment certainly was "fairly susceptible" of being interpreted by the jury as a comment on Jones's exercise of his right to remain silent, and where the state's case rested almost entirely on the testimony of a minor, reversal is required.

Jones, 821 So. 2d at 475 (emphasis supplied).

Thus, as the district court found, Respondent contends that the facts in *Harris* are clearly distinguishable from those upon which the instant decision is

predicated and therefore the decision of the fourth district in the case at bar is **not** in express and direct conflict with *Harris v. State* on the same question of law.

The prosecutor's comments violated Respondent's rights under the Fifth Amendment to the *United States Constitution* and Article I, Section 9 of the *Florida Constitution*, since they constituted comments on Respondent's right to remain silent and referred to his failure to testify. In addition to these constitutional violations, the comments violated Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.250, which prohibits a prosecutor from commenting on a defendant's failure to testify. Respondent thus submits that the fourth district properly reversed for a new trial.

This Honorable Court has adopted a "very liberal rule" for determining whether a comment constitutes a comment on silence: any comment which is "fairly susceptible" of being interpreted as a comment on silence will be treated as such. *See State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986); *Dailey v. State*, 594 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 1991); *State v. Smith*, 573 So. 2d 306, 317 (Fla. 1990)("Our cases have made clear that courts must prohibit all evidence or argument that is fairly susceptible of being interpreted by the jury as a comment on the right of silence." ); *State v. Kinchen*, 490 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1985).

As this Court recognized in *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d at 1135-1136, when determining that harmless error analysis must be applied to comments which are fairly

susceptible of being interpreted as a comment on silence:

In Florida, we have adopted a very liberal rule for determining whether a comment constitutes a comment on silence: any comment which is "fairly susceptible" of being interpreted as a comment on silence will be treated as such. [footnotes omitted]. One authority has said that "[c]omments or arguments which can be construed as relating to the defendant's failure to testify are, obviously, of almost unlimited variety." [FN11]<sup>2</sup> The "fairly susceptible" test treats this variety of arguable comments as comments on silence. We are no longer only dealing with clear-cut violations where the prosecutor directly comments on the accused's silence and hammers the point home... Comments on silence are lumped together in an amorphous mass where no distinction is drawn between the direct or indirect, the advertent from the inadvertent, the emphasized from the casual, the clear from the ambiguous, and, most importantly, the harmful from the harmless. In short, no bright line can be drawn around or within the almost unlimited variety of comments that will place all of the harmful errors on one side and the harmless errors on the other, unless the circumstances of the trial are considered. We must apply harmless error analysis to the "fairly susceptible" comment in order to obtain the requisite discriminatory capacity.

Further, this Court has characterized a comment on a defendant's silence as a

"high risk" error which has a "substantial likelihood" of requiring a new trial.

*DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d at 1136.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> [FN 11. Annotation, Comment or Argument by Court or Counsel that Prosecution Evidence is Uncontradicted as Amounting to Improper Reference to Accused's Failure to Testify, 14 A.L.R.3d 723, 726-27.]

The prosecutor's comments herein were unduly prejudicial because they impinged upon two related constitutional rights: the right to remain silent and the presumption of innocence. By referring to Respondent as "sitting there," the prosecutor highlighted the fact that Respondent did not testify at trial. Respondent had a right to "sit there," to remain silent and to be presumed innocent throughout his trial. *See Romero v. State*, 435 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Since the prosecutor's comments were more than fairly susceptible of being interpreted as a comment on silence, the district court properly reversed and remanded for a new trial after determining that the error was harmful under the circumstances herein.

Other district courts of appeal have held comparable prosecutorial comments to be comments on silence. *See*, *e.g.*, *Andres v. State*, 468 So. 2d 1084 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985)("The prosecutor's closing argument statement: 'There is no testimony at this point in the evidence to indicate that he ever intended to withdraw [from the conspiracy],' was, beyond any dispute, susceptible of being interpreted by the jury as referring to the defendant's failure to testify..."); *Brock v. State*, 446 So. 2d 1170, 1170-1171 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984)(Where Brock chose not to testify at his jury trial and during closing argument the prosecutor told the jury that: "Today is the day he has to stand up and, 'fess to what happened and pay for what he did," the appellate court found this comment "was fairly susceptible of being interpreted by the jury as referring

to Brock's failure to testify."); Hall v. State, 364 So. 2d 866 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

In *Hall v. State*, 364 So. 2d 866, Hall presented no evidence or testimony at his trial although his counsel subjected the state witnesses to cross-examination which revealed some discrepancies between the various accounts of the offense. In closing argument, the prosecutor walked over to Hall, pointed at him, and made the following comment:

Oh, Mr. Stokes ([Hall's] counsel), he's putting the spotlight on Lucille asking questions about whether or not she had ever sold a beer to a minor before. It has nothing whatsoever to do with this case not at all. But, you know, that's a favorite defense tactic, because this man is sitting over here quietly. Mr. Stokes gets on to Lucille, and gets on to Dennis, and gets on to the other witnesses. You know why? Because he doesn't want you to look at his defendant during the course of this trial. He wants to take the spotlight off of this defendant, James Hall. But let me remind you that James Hall is the one on trial today. No one else.

The *Hall* court held that:

On this record, we cannot agree that the statement was anything but a comment on [Hall's] failure to present testimony on his own behalf. The comment by its very terms contrasts the state's presentation of a case with [Hall's] failure to make such a presentation. Furthermore, it appears obvious to us that the word "quietly" refers to [Hall's] silence during the cross- examination portion of the testimony rather than during the closing argument.

Id. at 867.

Indeed, the distinction between the *Harris* comment, which was found not to be a comment on silence by this Court, and the *Hall* comment on silence, which is comparable to the comment on silence in the instant cause, has even been recognized in Florida Jurisprudence 2d, as follows:

> Comments or arguments during closing argument which can be construed as relating to defendant's failure to testify can include comments regarding defendant's demeanor at trial. For example, a statement made by the prosecutor in his closing argument that defendant was "sitting over there quietly," and that defense counsel did not want the jury to look at defendant during the course of the trial but wanted to take the spotlight off him constituted an improper comment on defendant's right to silence. [FN1: Hall v. State, 364 So. 2d 866 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1st Dist. 1978).] However, it is not improper for the prosecutor to say, regarding the defendant, that "this was a voluntary statement taken after a considerable period of time in which he sat there and remained the same immobile, unemotional self as he has this entire trial," where a full reading of the argument shows that the prosecutor was addressing the critical issue of whether Respondent's confession was voluntary and, in doing so, was commenting on Respondent's demeanor at the time the confession was made; obviously, the prosecutor was describing to the jury the Respondent's demeanor during his interrogation by comparing it to his demeanor as he appeared before them at the trial. [FN2: Harris v. State, 438 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1983)...].

15 Fla. Jur. 2d Criminal Law § 1813 (2003).

The harm is readily apparent at bar where the criminal case was solely based on the credibility of the child's testimony as Respondent exercised his fundamental right to remain silent and not testify at trial. The state's error in focusing the jury's attention on his silence, thereby also suggesting that Respondent had some burden to present evidence, only served to prejudice Respondent and bolster Shannon Rose's credibility.

Thus, Respondent requests that this Honorable Court **affirm** the instant decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities cited therein, Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court to either reconsider its decision accepting jurisdiction and find that jurisdiction was improvidently granted or **affirm** the decision of the Fourth District.